

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

A Staff Education Project on the Administration of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents

Emilia Ochiabuto Okoye Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Nursing

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Emilia Ochiabuto Okoye

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Joan Hahn, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Mary Rodgers, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Andrea Tatkon-Coker, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

A Staff Education Project on the Administration of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents

by

Emilia O. Okoye

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

March 2023

Abstract

Obesity among children and adolescents has reached epidemic proportions in the United States (U.S). Nurses in pediatric settings have a critical role to play in assessing and managing childhood obesity. The partner site for this project has a childhood obesity rate of 35% compared to the national average of 19%. However, the nursing staff lacked adequate knowledge, competence, and confidence in assessing and managing childhood obesity in line with the recommended guidelines. The problem was addressed by implementing the *Clinical Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Obesity and* Overweight Children and Adolescents via an education program. The program's content was reviewed using the Lynn model by five local clinical experts on childhood obesity. The theoretical framework guiding this project was Malcolm Knowles's adult learning theory. Six registered nurses took part in the educational program. The pretest findings identified a mean between 2.9 to 3.3 with a mode of 3 indicating that the staff had inadequate knowledge and skills regarding obesity and overweight assessment. The posttest data depicted that the educational intervention met the lesson objectives. After the staff training program, the post staff training mean ranged from 1 to 1.2, with a mode of one indicating that the staff felt knowledgeable and confident in following the practice guidelines for assessing obesity and overweight risk factors. The project has the potential to impact nursing practice by promoting timely assessment and management of pediatric obesity based on recommended practices. Social change may occur when nurses assess pediatric patient for obesity and overweight status and educate them and their families about evidence-based weight management strategies.

A Staff Education Project on the Administration of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the

Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents

by

Emilia O. Okoye

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

March 2023

Dedication

This paper is lovingly dedicated to my husband and family, who stood by me throughout this time for giving me all the love, encouragement, support, and understanding during this journey. I am also dedicating this to my friends, who always encouraged me to the end. Finally, this project is for my fellow Family Nurse practitioners and Pediatric nurses for inspiring me with their resilience, patience, and dedication to our practice.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank Dr. Robert Anders and Dr. Mary E. Rodgers for supporting me during this journey. My deepest gratitude to my husband, Frank C. Okoye, and family for their wisdom, guidance, endless encouragement, and patience during this academic journey. I would also like to share my sincere appreciation for friends who have helped me reach this point in my academic career; thank you, and I love you. And above all, I am immensely grateful to the Almighty God for making this possible.

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	V
Section 1: Nature of the Project	
Introduction	1
Problem Statement	3
Local Nursing Practice Problem	
The Local Relevance of the Need to Address the Problem	5
Project Significance for the Field of Nursing	6
Purpose Statement	7
The Gap-In-Practice	7
Nature of the Doctoral Project	10
Sources of Evidence	
Significance	12
Potential Contribution to Nursing Practice	
Summary	14
Section 2: Background and Context	15
Introduction	15
Concepts, Models, and Theories	17
Theoretical Foundation of the Project	17
Synthesis of Theory	
Key Terms	

Table of Contents

Relevance to Nursing Practice	19
History and Existing Scholarship Related to the Project	19
Local Background and Context	23
Institutional and Local Context	
Applicable State or Federal Context	
Role of the DNP Student	27
Role of the Project Team	30
Summary	32
Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence	
Introduction	
Practice-Focused Questions	
Operational Definitions	35
Sources of Evidence	
Analysis and Synthesis	
Summary	
Section 4: Findings and Recommendations	41
Introduction	41
Findings and Implications	41
Evaluation of the Staff Education Activity	
Staff Education	
Strengths and Limitations of the Project	46
Section 5: Dissemination Plan	48

Analysis of Self	49
References	53
Appendix A: Lesson Plan for Staff Education	61
Appendix B: Lynn's Assessment for the Staff Education Project	63
Appendix C: Staff Education Activity Pre- and Post-Evaluation Questionnaire	64

List of Tables

Table 1. Evaluation of the Staff Education Program $(N = 5)$. 42
Table 2. Analysis of Educational Activity	. 44

List of Figures

Figure 1: Rising rate of childhood obesity	4
Figure 2: Bloom's Taxonomy	.11
Figure 3. Knowles' Adult Learning Theory Assumptions	.17

Section 1: Nature of the Project

Introduction

Healthcare professionals play a critical role in disease prevention and management to improve the overall well-being of healthcare service users. The wellbeing of patients and the provision of high-quality, evidence-based care are core responsibilities for nurses. This even becomes more critical while taking care of children and adolescents who are overweight or obese. Childhood obesity is the presence of abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair the child's health (Smith et al., 2020). Obesity among children and adolescents has reached epidemic proportions in the United States. According to the latest data by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC; 2022), obesity impacts 14.7 million children and adolescents. Of major concern is that there are evident disparities in the prevalence, with obesity being 26.2% among Hispanic or Latino children, 24.8% among non-Hispanic Black children, and 16.6% among non-Hispanic White children (CDC, 2022). This data highlights the need for healthcare providers, including nurses, to be aware of such disparities and apply evidence-based approaches to address them.

The high prevalence of obesity among children and adolescents in the United States is a major public health concern. Obesity has been identified as a risk factor for many health conditions, including high blood pressure, Type 2 diabetes, heart disease, and certain cancers (Kansra et al., 2021). In addition, the state has been associated with an increased risk of children experiencing early puberty, irregular menstrual cycles for teenage girls, and an increased risk of experiencing sleep disorders, including obstructive sleep apnea (Sanyaolu et al., 2019). Moreover, obesity has been associated with an increased risk of experiencing poor mental well-being with the affected children and adolescents experiencing poor self-esteem, anxiety, depression, poor peer relationships, and are at an increased risk of developing eating disorders (Smith et al., 2020; Sanyaolu et al., 2019). Considering the adverse effects of obesity on the pediatric population, advanced nurse practitioners and other healthcare team members have a role to play in promoting the adoption of evidence-based prevention and management approaches in primary care settings.

The high prevalence of obesity in the pediatric population indicates that nurses have failed to take advantage of the opportunities during care to deliver evidence-based obesity prevention and management information to patients and their parents. Busch et al. (2018) have highlighted information gaps among nurses regarding assisting patients with lifestyle changes. Yeager and Karp (2019) made similar observations that there are gaps between the recommended and actual practice regarding the prevention and management of childhood obesity. Several barriers have been attributed to this practice gap, including inadequate staff knowledge regarding the guidelines, lack of time, and negative attitudes towards obese or overweight patients (Busch et al., 2018; Tsai et al., 2018; Yeager & Karp, 2019). When these barriers are addressed, nurse practitioners and other primary care providers can provide evidence-based information on weight loss and healthy lifestyle changes to decrease obesity in children and adolescents. One way to support nurses in providing evidence-based care is by designing a staff education program based on guideline recommendations for preventing and managing obesity among children and adolescents.

Problem Statement

Local Nursing Practice Problem

Obesity and overweight among children and adolescents are increasing. They have various medical, psychological, and social challenges (CDC, 2018b). Being obese or overweight is linked to dietary patterns and excessive food intake. Because of lopsided food utilization among teens, diet-related physiological diseases, for example, being overweight or having glucose obstruction, hypertension, and heighted levels of cholesterol, are increasing (Weihrauch-Blüher & Wiegand, 2018). Obesity in children and youth is a pandemic. Obesity impacts an estimated 124 million individuals. One out of every five youngsters and youthful grown-ups is overweight (Ogden et al., 2018). The predominance of obesity among young people and kids between ages two and nineteen was 19.3% in 2017-2018; CDC reports that 14.4 million were impacted (Figure 1). The pervasiveness of obesity among youngsters aged between 2 to 5 years was 13.4%, among 6 to 11 years was 20.3%, and for those between 12 to 19 years was 21.2% (CDC (2018b). In addition, the obesity rate for Hispanic youngsters was 25.6%. For non-Hispanic Black children, it was 24.2%, for non-Hispanic White children it was 16.1%, and the predominance among non-Hispanic Asian youngsters was 8.7% (CDC, 2018b). For over 40 years, the Body Mass Index (BMI) has increased worldwide in children and young adults (Ogden et al., 2018).

Figure 1

Rising Rate of Childhood Obesity



Note. Adapted from "*Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and severe obesity among children and adolescents aged 2–19 years: United States, 1963–1965 through 2017–2018,*" *by* Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021). . https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity-child-17-18/obesity-child.htm

While understanding the exact cause of obesity remains elusive, there is evidence that various risk factors, including a sedentary lifestyle, unhealthy meals, and physiological and psychological factors, are the leading risk factors (Yeager & Karp, 2019). The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the American Psychological Association (APA) have developed clinical practice guidelines for preventing and managing obesity affecting children and adolescents. The guidelines endorse using a standardized approach to managing obesity and overweight problems in the target population by improving lifestyle decisions and promoting weight management (AAP, 2022; APA, 2022). Nevertheless, the partner organization's practice for this study was inconsistent with the guideline recommendations. The failure to comply with the guideline recommendations led to a gap in training and addressing the gap was the focus of this project.

The Local Relevance of the Need to Address the Problem

The partner organization is a pediatric care facility in the south-central United States. This project focused on obesity among children and adolescents seeking care at the facility because it has not been addressed with the seriousness it deserves. Most of the staff at the facility are nurses and are usually the first health professionals to have contact with obese and overweight patients. Therefore, these frequent interactions with these individuals provide an opportunity to offer evidence-based interventions directed to assist these individuals with creating a healthy lifestyle, in part to decrease their BMI (Busch et al., 2018). However, this was not the case at the practice site because the staff were not assisting patients with weight issues as per the recommended guidelines. The nurses at the facility were not confident in their knowledge to adequately educate children, adolescents, and their parents or guardians on obesity and overweight management. On average, 35% of children and adolescents seeking care at the facility are overweight or obese, based on a recent audit. This is equivalent to a third of the children and adolescents seeking care at the facility falling under the overweight and obese weight status.

The professional practice gap relates to the nursing staff not having adequate knowledge and training on the recent guideline recommendations for preventing and managing obesity in the pediatric population. To address the gap in practice, pediatric registered nurses needed awareness of clinical practice guidelines regarding treating obesity and overweight children and young people. Therefore, the DNP project intended to educate the pediatric nurses at the practicum site on a guideline published by the APA called the *Clinical Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents* (CPGTOOCA; APA, 2022). Knowing these evidence-based clinical practice guidelines, the pediatric nurse could potentially assist children and youth with elevated BMI when implemented in their treatment plans.

Project Significance for the Field of Nursing

Obesity among children and adolescents has reached epidemic proportions in the United States, with about a third of the population affected. This is a public health concern considering that obesity adversely impacts all aspects of the child and adolescent development process, including psychological, physical, and cardiovascular health (Sanyaolu et al., 2019). Obesity and overweight screening and management are needed to improve outcomes in the pediatric population (Lynch et al., 2018). Furthermore, by teaching nurses how to use the CPGTOOCA guidelines, they are empowered to identify obesity in children and adolescents and give early intervention to those who need it. The program's goals, objectives, and methodology are connected and meant to help people alter their lives.

Purpose Statement

The Gap-In-Practice

The pediatric clinic had not implemented assessment tools to assess the risk of overweight and childhood obesity, consumption habits, and parental beliefs. The nursing staff's lack of knowledge of obesity assessment was the major barrier behind the limited protocol use (Lynch et al., 2018). Busch et al. (2018) suggested that many nursing professionals have low confidence in assessing childhood obesity. They lack knowledge of BMI assessment, parent perception, and food habits influencing obesity. Similarly, other barriers are a lack of confidence in skills to promote change, following clinical protocol, and limited education regarding protocol use (Hill et al. 2019). Such issues increased the practice gap regarding nurses' knowledge of childhood and adolescent obesity assessment and treatment.

Practice-Focused Questions

The practice-focused questions were:

- Using Lynn's model, will the assessment of the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents' educational activity meet the evaluation criteria?
- After attending the educational sessions regarding the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and

Adolescents protocol, will the nursing staff meet the learning outcome objectives?

As discussed above, nursing professionals often had limited knowledge of guidelines and childhood obesity, which was reflected in the quality of pediatric care they deliver. In this case, integrating the staff education program and validating this assessment tool allowed nurses to identify the risk of obesity, dietary, and sleeping patterns. In addition, it provided family-based multicomponent behavioral intervention. The early identification of obesity would also enable nurses to understand nutritional habits and provide family-based multicomponent behavioral intervention per the guideline (Davidson et al., 2018).

How the Project Addresses the Gap in Practice

As a DNP student, I developed an educational program to teach nurses to use the CPGTOOCA guidelines to screen children and adolescents. The guidelines are for children aged 6 and older who are overweight. The policies provide information regarding weight-related diet, support from the multidisciplinary team, and exercise counseling. A validated lesson plan and objectives regarding the evidence-based guideline were used to educate the nursing participants on using the tool for screening. The education program was first subjected to Lynn's validation tool as part of the protocols needed to determine its validity (Lynn, 1986). After successful validation, I educated pediatric nursing staff on the effective use of the CPGTOOCA. Any clinical and training project in healthcare centers requires ethical approval as it involves living participants and personal data of individuals/participants (Boozaripour et al., 2018). The

project site and the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval number 12-16-22-0731464 this project. Following institutional approval, consent was obtained from all the participants willing to participate in the program. The program did not cause any harm or damage to the participants or their belongings. No patient data were collected (Boozaripour et al., 2018). All the personal data the participants shared were kept for verification purposes and securely maintained in an encrypted e-database, reducing the additional risk of information breaching.

This project aimed to create a training curriculum for pediatric nurses to administer the CPGTOOCA recommendations. An expert team of five pediatric health specialists utilized Lynn's validation technique to validate the program. Staff received written and verbal information after the program was validated in a formal training session. Per the nursing administrator at the healthcare organization, limited understanding of the management of childhood obesity impacts the quality of care provided to obese children. Obesity and overweight can be managed at the pediatric health center with early diagnosis and intervention (Valerio et al., 2018). Pediatric nurses who work in pediatric clinics can gain appropriate skills, understanding, and knowledge and would be able to provide evidence-based care to these patients. Michel et al. (2020) suggests that evidence-based education programs focusing on optimized or standardized guidelines are useful. There are many interventions for managing pediatric obesity. However, a gap in translational practice creates a space for further education (Agarwal, 2019). As such, instruction was provided to improve the pediatric nursing staff's knowledge of the CPGTOOCA for ensuring the improvement and well-being of patients with obesity (Arteaga et al., 2018).

Nature of the Doctoral Project

Sources of Evidence

A thorough literature search, review of facility statistics, personal experience within the specified department, professional organization websites, anecdotal reports from the preceptor, and discussions with field specialists were all used to support this project. CINAHL, Google Scholar, Academic Search Premier, EBSCO, PubMed, Psych INFO, and the Cochrane Library were the electronic databases used for the literature search. Some anticipated electronic data-based search terms included *CPGTOOCA use in pediatric clinics and units* plus childhood and adolescent obesity. In addition, other words included *overweight* and *treatment guidelines for childhood and teenage obesity*. Unfortunately, at the start of this project, the project site's pediatric nurses lacked the training to utilize the CPGTOOCA, which could help improve patient outcomes. Nursing administrators confirmed this (Clinic director, personal communication, February 20,

2022).

Approach Used for the Project

The expert panel used Lynn's validation tool to validate the staff education program (Lynn, 1986). The education program's content was reviewed by an expert panel of five experts in obesity and overweight in children and adolescents. Once the staff educational program is validated, I educated staff on CPGTOOCA and evaluated their understanding. A pretest and posttest regarding the essential guidelines for using the CPGTOOCA by pediatric nurses was developed (Agarwal, 2019). Bloom's taxonomy supported the educational program. Benjamin Bloom designed three domains of educational activities that support adult learning to gather comprehensive knowledge (Agarwal, 2019). For example, (a) cognitive domain knowledge, (b) affective domain growth in emotional areas, and (c) psychomotor domains; manual and physical skills were utilized in the educational offering (Figure 2).

Figure 2

Bloom's Taxonomy



Note. Adapted from "Retrieval practice & Bloom's taxonomy: Do students need facts and mental health problems in adolescents?" by Agarwal (2019). *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, *69*, 428-439. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000282

Summary of Purpose

The staff education aimed to evaluate the importance of clinical practice guidelines in treating obesity and overweight among children and adolescents. Thus, Lynn's validation tool was a part of the protocol used for validity determination. After successful validation, I educated pediatric nursing staff about the effective use of CPGTOOCA. The nursing staff's knowledge regarding treating overweight and obese children and youth hindered their ability to provide evidence-based care. Koivumäki and Jallinoja (2022) reported that many nursing experts often have low trust in surveying adolescents' overweight and obesity. These nurses need information on the appraisal of BMI, parent insight, and food habits that impact obesity. Essentially, nurses' knowledge deficits create a lack of competencies regarding evidence-based clinical guidelines for treating overweight and obese (Hill et al., 2019).

Significance

The lack of knowledge by health care providers is one of the most probable causes of increased deaths linked with childhood obesity. Therefore, treating these children and youth at an early age is essential. Furthermore, if untreated, the issue poses various health and mental issues later in life (Vargas et al., 2017).

Stakeholders

The project stakeholders included pediatric nursing staff, healthcare professionals, and children and young people suffering from being overweight and obese. The awareness among pediatric nurses was enhanced by applying CPGTOOCA guidelines to pediatric practice settings. Thus, these staff were the key stakeholders or participants in this project. Their current practice needed to be modified so that the knowledge was incorporated. The children were other stakeholders in this project, as improving knowledge among pediatric nurses would help offer better treatment of childhood obesity. Several grave negative impacts on children with obesity can be addressed effectively using this project.

Potential Contribution to Nursing Practice

Lynn's validation tool was employed to validate the pediatric nursing staff training program on childhood obesity (Lynn, 1986). The contribution derived from the project would, in part, be to improve registered nurse knowledge of treating and managing overweight and obese children and youth. Thus, the nurses would be able to influence practice and hopefully decrease health problems associated with obesity.

Potential Transferability to Similar Practice Area

The aspect of nursing knowledge plays a critical role in addressing the various issues in healthcare. Lack of adequate knowledge may threaten patients' safety and negatively affect the health care setting. As the prevalence of childhood obesity is increasing, it is exceedingly crucial for pediatric nursing professionals to know about it and act accordingly.

Potential Social Change

This project can facilitate changes in how pediatric nurses, once aware of managing childhood obesity, can assist with its reduction. Childhood obesity is one of the most significant health issues that impact children from almost every socioeconomic level. However, individuals from lower socioeconomic groups have been affected disproportionately. As a result, the burden of chronic illnesses is also higher among this population worldwide (Torre et al., 2018). In this regard, interference and support from healthcare professionals, especially nurses, are highly solicited from the perspective of the social well-being of these individuals (Vittrup & McClure, 2018).

Pediatric nurses must become more efficient in recognizing children with a high risk of obesity. With the implementation of an evidence-based strategy, they might be able to prevent their health complications. Therefore, a focus is on the social well-being of the children. In addition, social problems such as stigmatization or bullying might be prevented, and the disease burden on the healthcare system can be decreased further promoting social change.

Summary

Lack of knowledge related to childhood obesity inhibits health promotion by nurses. Health promotion involves intervention that offers evidence of effectiveness in a setting and can be replicated in other situations. Concerning public health, intervention needs to be evaluated based on the context, outcome, and process. Increasing awareness is required for patient safety and improving patient information. The staff education project instructed pediatric nursing staff on using the CPGTOOCA. These guidelines support nursing staff, especially those working in the pediatric department, to improve their knowledge base on treating childhood obesity and increase their confidence in addressing this issue in the clinical setting.

Section 2: Background and Context

Introduction

The incidence of obesity among children and teenagers has been increasing at an alarming rate in the United States. Currently, approximately 20% of American children are obese (CDC, 2022; Sanyaolu et al., 2019). The high prevalence is of concern, considering that obesity is a severe public health problem that puts children at risk of poor health. Obesity affects all aspects of children's lives, including their physical and mental well-being. It has been associated with an increased risk of developing physical health conditions, including cardiovascular disease, sleep disorders, diabetes, and metabolic syndrome (Kansra et al., 2021; Sanyaolu et al., 2019). In addition, obese children can experience poor self-esteem, anxiety, depression, and eating disorders (Sanyaolu et al., 2019). Obesity is a costly health condition, with the U.S. healthcare system spending \$147 billion annually (CDC, 2022). There is a need for interventions addressing modifiable risk factors to decrease the incidence of childhood obesity and its impacts in the country. As depicted in the literature, evidence-based interventions effectively decrease the prevalence of obesity and its effects. However, healthcare professionals, including nurses, have inadequate knowledge regarding assisting patients with lifestyle changes to reduce the prevalence of obesity in children and adolescents (Tsai et al., 2018; Yeager & Karp, 2019).

The partner organization had not implemented assessment tools to assess the risk of being overweight and childhood obesity, consumption habits, and parental beliefs. Nursing staff's lack of knowledge of obesity assessment can be major barrier behind the limited protocol use (Lynch et al., 2018). Nurse practitioners and other primary care providers should provide evidence-based information on weight loss and healthy lifestyle changes to decrease obesity in children and adolescents. The current project sought to support nurses in assessing and managing childhood obesity by designing a staff education program based on guideline recommendations for preventing and managing obesity among children and adolescents. The two practice-focused questions were:

- Using Lynn's model, will the assessment of the pre-developed staff education based on Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents meet the evaluation criteria?
- After attending the educational sessions regarding the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents protocol, will the nursing staff meet the learning outcome objectives?

The staff education activity seeks to meet the following objectives: (a) orient nurses on the administration of the clinical practice guidelines for the management of obesity among children and adolescents, (b) improve staff knowledge and confidence on the application of the standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity, and (c) bridge the gap created by the failure to implement standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity. Section 2 provides a detailed discussion of the background and context, including the application of theory, the local setting, and the roles of the DNP student and project team.

Concepts, Models, and Theories

Theoretical Foundation of the Project

A theoretical framework is needed to conceptualize the nature of the research problem and guide the planning, designing, and evaluation of quality improvement programs (Strifler et al., 2020). The current staff training program used Knowles' adult learning theory or the theory of andragogy (El-Amin, 2020). The theory was selected considering the staff's demography at the partner organization, considering that the theory mostly focuses on adult education. Knowles positioned the theory of andragogy to address the limitation of pedagogy (El-Amin, 2020). According to this theory, adult learners are independent and self-directed, and experience is a rich resource for learning. Adult learners tend to incline toward education that matters to them, with the readiness to learn influenced by the perceived applicability of the teaching (Figure 3).

Figure 3

Knowles' Adult Learning Theory Assumptions



Note. Adapted from "*Professional Learning: Adult Learning Theory in Action*," by Teaching and Learning Consulting Network, LLC.

https://www.teachingandlearningnetwork.com/adult-learners.html

Synthesis of Theory

A priority of health care settings is to focus on patient safety by improving the clinical care process and general staff education among the entire workforce. The education to staff in terms of clinical simulation, on-duty education, and distance learning are different forms of staff education that allow for providing real-time clinical instructions and designing an appropriate approach for adult learning. As per Knowles, there are differences between pre-adult learning and adult learning, based on the concept of andragogy. According to Quan-Haase et al. (2018), adult learners connect personal, social, and professional life that involve past experiences to learn new things. Adult learning involving experience offers support and capabilities that include purposeful learning. The adult learning theory has four preconceived notions that support adult learning, and situation that impacts the learning process. Thus, the chosen theory allows for the developing of new teaching strategies based on adult learning ability and frameworks related to other adult learners' theories (El-Amin, 2020).

Key Terms

Body mass index (BMI): The value obtained from the mass (weight) when divided by the square of body height in meters of an individual and is expressed in kg/m^2 . It

approximates an individual's body fat, indicating whether one is obese, overweight, normal, or underweight (Khanna et al., 2022).

Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents (CPGTOOCA): These are guideline recommendations for managing overweight and obese children and adolescents aged 2 to 18 (American Psychological Association, 2021).

Childhood/pediatric obesity: An abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair the child's health. The criterion for defining obesity in the pediatric population is a BMI of more than the 95th percentile for age and gender (Smith et al., 2020).

Relevance to Nursing Practice

History and Existing Scholarship Related to the Project

The clinical problem addressed in this DNP project concerned the nursing staff's limited knowledge and skills in evaluating, educating, and referring pediatric patient populations with weight management issues (overweight and obesity) based on the recommended guidelines. Consequently, many children, teenagers, and their parents or guardians were not aware of or understood the health risks their weight status posed. Identifying those in need of assistance is critical. Nurses at the project site were not evaluating patients as per recommended practice, contributing to increased cost of care as patients seek treatment when already experiencing complications associated with obesity (Yeager & Karp, 2019).

In primary care settings, pediatric nurses provide care to a wide range of patients, including those with weight issues and needing professional assistance to lose weight. A wide range of weight loss interventions have been found effective in decreasing weight in the pediatric population (Alman et al., 2021; Figlia-Peck et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2020). Pediatric nurses have more contact with patients compared to other professionals. They are strategically placed in an ideal position to screen for obesity and empower patients to acquire a healthy weight. There is evidence that nurses trained and motivated in overweight and obesity management are more effective at screening and counseling patients about weight management than those without training (Fruh et al., 2019; Whitehead et al., 2021). Nurses' practice counseling and managing pediatric patients with weight management issues should align with the general guideline recommendations (Whitehead et al., 2021). The CPGTOOCA guidelines offer interventions for screening and managing overweight and obesity in young people and adolescents aged 2-18 years were addressed in the training program provided by this DNP project.

Current State of Nursing and Recommendations

The American Psychological Association (APA) 2018 developed a set of practice guidelines for managing overweight and obese weight status among children aged 2 to 18 years. The recommendations were based on the best research evidence, including evidence from systematic reviews, and involved weighing the benefits versus the potential harms of the interventions while considering what is known about patient needs and preferences. The guidelines highlight the need for primary care providers to be aware of the evidence-based approaches to managing childhood obesity (APA, 2022). They should also be well versed in identifying patients who need to implement interventions to lose weight to decrease the risk of chronic diseases and improve their overall well-being (Figlia-Peck et al., 2020).

The National Association of Pediatric Nurse Practitioners (NAPNAP) highlights that clinicians should underline the need for timely detection. They offer parents, family, caregivers, and patients with age-specific advice on healthy behaviors and the condition to consistently experience positive effects in managing overweight and obese weight status (NAPNAP, 2020). Healthcare practitioners have numerous opportunities to discuss the overweight and obese status and identify proper weight control means. However, they do not always initiate health promotion conversations considering that obesity and overweight are not prioritized as other physical health conditions (Busch et al., 2018; Tsai et al., 2018; Yeager & Karp, 2019).

Previous Strategies and Standards of Practice

Previously used strategies employed to mitigate the adverse effects of childhood obesity are organization specific. Childhood obesity is increasing at an alarming rate, and it impacts the physical, mental, and social well-being of the affected child or adolescent (CDC, 2022; Sanyaolu et al., 2019). Generally, childhood obesity treatment involves lifestyle changes related to enhancing participation in physical activities and dietary changes. Multi-component interventions encompassing different strategies consisting of dietary modifications, exercise, behavioral therapy, and patient education are most effective (Figlia-Peck et al., 2020). Treatment of childhood obesity conducted in different settings has led to varying outcomes, with various agencies and stakeholders developing guidelines to guide the screening and management of obesity (NAPNAP, 2020; Smith et al., 2020). While there are guideline recommendations for screening and management of pediatric obesity, the partner site had not implemented the guidelines for childhood obesity.

The pediatric clinic had not implemented assessment tools to evaluate the risk of overweight and childhood obesity. As a result, the staff at the facility relied on their perceptions and clinical judgments to identify overweight or obese children and hardly provide them with evidence-based information on effective management practices. Societal barriers also inhibit timely screening and management of childhood obesity, with parents or guardians failing to identify the problem early (Busch et al., 2018). As a result, the problem may get the attention of healthcare providers when it is already advanced, and the problem is that there is research depicting a lack of adequate knowledge and competency in pediatric obesity management among primary healthcare providers (Lynch et al., 2018; Yeager & Karp, 2019).

Advanced interventions such as bariatric surgery have been reserved for extreme cases of severe obesity and can only be done in specialty facilities. In addition, even though medications have been formulated for managing obesity, none have received US Food and Drug Administration approval for use in the pediatric population (Cuda & Censani, 2019). This highlights the need for timely interventions for assessing and managing obesity. There is a need for evidence-based protocols to enhance childhood obesity screening and management to improve population health.

How the Project Advances Nursing Practice

There was a gap at the pediatric clinic regarding staff knowledge and skills regarding assessing and managing childhood obesity in line with the recommended practices. The development of a staff education program based on the guideline recommendations for preventing and managing obesity among children and adolescents was aligned with the current priority at the pediatric clinic. Educating the staff on using BMI percentiles and screening tools to evaluate weight status in pediatric patients can enhance the staff's knowledge, skills, and confidence and improve patient outcomes (Hill et al., 2019; Lynch et al., 2018). Implementing the clinical practice guidelines would promote counseling on pediatric weight and increase the frequency of childhood obesity and overweight health assessment in the pediatric setting (Figlia-Peck et al., 2020). The newly introduced protocol impacted the practitioners with knowledge of obesity, thus placing them in a better position to address weight issues during pediatric appointments and encourage families to embrace healthy lifestyles (Alman et al., 2021).

Local Background and Context

The partner organization had not implemented assessment tools to assess the risk of overweight and childhood obesity, consumption habits, and parental beliefs. The partner organization's clinical preceptor expressed concerns over staff knowledge and skills inadequately assessing and educating pediatric patients and their parents about healthy eating and participation in physical activities. Consequently, patients may have left the facility unaware of their current weight status risks. This led to missed care opportunities and increased cost of care, considering that majority of patients seek care when they have started experiencing the adverse effects of overweight and obesity weight status. According to Whitehead et al. (2021), pediatric nurses are responsible for assessing patients for obesity and offering nutritional advice and weight management, including strategies such as managing calorie intake and increasing their physical activity levels. The lack of standardized assessment tools to evaluate the risks of overweight and childhood obesity contributed to the lack of screening and provision of timely care. The lack of familiarity of the nursing staff at the facility with the recent guideline recommendations for the prevention and management of obesity in the pediatric population was identified as the professional practice gap addressed in this project (Busch et al., 2018).

Institutional and Local Context

Considering the potential impact of childhood obesity, the failure of the organization to implement the latest guidelines on obesity and overweight for the pediatric population had adversely affected the provision of patient care. Incident reports concerning the current practices revealed that the failure to screen patients for obesity and offer weight management interventions is associated with poor outcomes. Obese and overweight children and teenagers develop complications such as Type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and mental health conditions such as low self-esteem and depression (CDC, 2022; Sanyaolu et al., 2019). The failure to screen pediatric patients results in missed opportunities for the patient to become aware of their weight health issues. It prevents the healthcare staff from initiating a weight management plan to empower patients to acquire a healthy weight status.
The partner organization is a pediatric care facility in the South-Central part of the US. The recipients of the training sessions were nurses working at the clinic. The healthcare staff at the facility works with younger patients, including children and young adults, to diagnose and manage their illnesses and monitor their development progress. Pediatric clinics have a role in offering comprehensive medical and psychological assessments of children and adolescents with obesity. The staff has a role in leading the pediatric population to improve weight control and overall health and quality of life.

According to CDC (2022), 19.7% of children and adolescents in the US are obese, meaning that close to 20% of the pediatric population seeking care is likely to be obese. The percentage can be higher considering that patients with obesity are likely to develop other conditions and thus more likely to present in healthcare settings. This DNP project promotes the adoption of CPGTOOCA guidelines for assessing and managing overweight and obesity health issues among children and adolescents seeking care in the pediatric care setting. The project also involved the provision of educational training to impact the nursing staff with the knowledge and skills to assess and educate pediatric patients on overweight and obesity weight status. The training program improved staff knowledge, skills, and confidence in evaluating and managing childhood obesity (Fruh et al., 2019; Osmundsen et al., 2019; Whitehead et al., 2021).

Applicable State or Federal Context

Measures have been put in the state and federal context to address the problem of childhood obesity across the country. Various states have adopted legislation to promote healthy eating in school settings. For instance, Arkansas, through the Child Nutrition Unit at the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education, administers various programs and initiatives to decrease the prevalence of childhood obesity. The programs include the School Breakfast Program, Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program, and After School Snack Program, nutritional programs for schools in the state (Division of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2022). Many of these initiatives are federally assisted and operate in public and non-profit private schools. Likewise, Colorado has enrolled in the Breakfast After Bell Nutrition Program (BAPNP), whose core purpose is to provide breakfast at no charge to every student enrolled in a public school, with 70% or more students eligible for subsidized meals (Colorado Education Initiative, 2018). The Child Day Care Act mandates teachers and daycare directors to have at least one hour of training on childhood nutrition as a key component of health promotion initiatives in California (California Department of Social Services, 2022). There has been the development of strategic plans in other states through private and public partnership programs to decrease the prevalence of childhood obesity. There are also goals to create awareness regarding obesity as a priority health issue with a major impact on life. Effective prevention and management practices, including exercise and healthy eating, are taught in school and exercised through various initiatives (Smith et al., 2020).

A wide range of policies have been passed and programs implemented at the federal level with the overarching goal of addressing pediatric obesity and ensuring the overall well-being of children and adolescents. For instance, the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010, a federal statute still active to date, improved the nutrition standards for meals served in school settings (Richardson et al., 2022). The act strengthened the

National School Lunch Program providing nutritionally balanced, low-cost, or free meals to millions of children in public and non-profit private schools. The School Breakfast Program is also administered by the Food and Nutrition Service and the After School Snack Program to ascertain that children in afterschool activities are served snacks to promote their health and well-being (Division of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2022).

While research by Kenney et al. (2020) did not find a substantial relationship between the legislation and trends in childhood obesity, the risk of obesity reduced each year significantly upon the implementation of the act among children living in poverty. The investigators report that pediatric obesity prevalence levels could have reached 47% if there were no interventions through the legislation and initiatives (Kenney et al., 2020). The findings highlight that initiatives supported through the Healthy Hunger Free Kid Act are evidence-based nutritional standards that must be sustained to support healthy growth among American children.

Role of the DNP Student

Professional Context and Relationship

As a family nurse practitioner at the partner site and a future DNP-prepared nurse, my professional role was to ensure the organization's readiness for change. I have professional responsibilities in developing and implementing the new protocol to improve childhood obesity and overweight health assessment and management at the pediatric clinic. I acted as the change champion and project leader by having conversations regarding the need for this project and its potential impact on improving the well-being of the pediatric patient population seeking care at the clinic. As a DNP student, my relationship with this project emanated during the clinical practicum activities at the partner site. I observed that nurses at the clinic hardly engaged patients' families in weight management conversations due to a lack of evidence-based knowledge and confidence to tackle the issues of overweight and obesity in the pediatric population.

The practice problem motivated me to address the problem by developing a staff training program based on CPGTOOCA guidelines for assessing and managing overweight and obesity health issues among children and adolescents. I was convinced that the practice problem is worthy of special consideration, considering the adverse effects of the condition and the enormous costs to the healthcare system. Promoting timely prevention and management of pediatric obesity is critical in preventing the longterm negative impact of this condition, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes, certain types of cancers, and disability in adulthood (Hill et al., 2019; Smith et al., 2020).

Role in the Doctoral Project

I am a DNP student at the partner organization with a clinical preceptor on location. My role in the project was to develop a staff training program to empower nurses at the partner organization to follow the recommended practices concerning the assessment and management of pediatric obesity. As the project leader, I conducted a literature search across selected databases. I identified the practice guidelines and empirical evidence depicting the development and implementation of the staff training program as an evidence-based approach to addressing the identified clinical problem at the partner site. In addition, I was responsible for ensuring that the staff training program was reviewed by a panel of experts on childhood obesity. A panel of five content experts reviewed the program and establish that it has relevant content and an acceptable level of validity for the staff education activities. The content experts included three nurse practitioners and two physicians, all involved in providing care to pediatric populations and in treating numerous children who are obese or overweight. They all have at least ten years of experience in practice. The adult learning theory by Knowles guided the staff education program. The project implementation processes involved collecting pre-test and post-test data to establish the program's impact.

Motivation

The inspirations for this venture were the pediatric nurses and the patients at the accomplice association. As a doctorate-prepared nurse, I was responsible for bridging the gap in practice at the project site by implementing the recommended clinical practice guidelines for managing childhood obesity. The patients seeking care at the facility are children and adolescents, mostly accompanied by their parents or guardians. Children are part of the vulnerable population hence the need to promote adherence to the already tested and validated practice. As a nurse educator at the clinic, I looked forward to offering the required training and education to improve the assessment and management of pediatric obesity.

Potential Biases

There might have been bias from the DNP candidate's assumptions concerning the demographics and knowledge of the nurses at the project site regarding pediatric obesity. Nurses at the project site come from different ethnic, cultural, and professional backgrounds and all have varying levels of clinical experience. They are also likely to have different learning styles. To overcome the potential biases, the project leader employed several measures. The first step is using Knowles's adult learning theory and incorporating relevant concepts into adult learning programs. The participants' learning needs were considered using different teaching methods to accommodate learners who understand information through various learning methods (Purwati et al., 2022).

Most importantly, the project leader sought IRB approval from Walden University to ascertain that the project complied with ethical principles guiding research involving human subjects. An approval letter was obtained from the partner organization allowing the implementation of the staff training program. Participants were provided with an informed consent form, and questionnaires employed to collect data were all anonymous, thus guaranteeing the confidentiality and privacy of the participants. All course materials were stored in a private room to which only I had access. Soft copies, including data entered on the computers, were entered only on devices that are password protected to prevent access to unauthorized individuals. The five content experts who took part in validating the staff education program using the Lynn model were all voluntary participants.

Role of the Project Team

The involvement of the various stakeholders as team members in this project was critical in ascertaining that the obesity assessment and management needs of the staff, pediatric patient population, and family members seeking care at the facility have been met. Identified stakeholders included nurses, nurse educators, pediatric nurses, nursing leadership-leader nurses, family nurse practitioners, and the quality assurance nurse. There were five content experts: family nurse practitioners, physicians, chief nurses, and nurse practitioners. The other team members included staff who participated in the staff education activity and nurses. In this case, I provided leadership in this project and mentorship from the clinical preceptor and nursing educators. The educators and five experts served as subject matter experts and validated the education program.

Project Presentation to the Team

The project team included nurse educators who served as subject matter experts and evaluated the staff development program. They ascertained that the staff education activity was concise and clear and included the required information to provide nurses with adequate information about childhood obesity. As per the recommendation of the Lynn model, five validators are needed to ensure a proper level of control and prevent chance agreement (Boozaripour et al., 2018). The Lynn model is a framework for validating and evaluating staff training programs. I created a lesson plan and PowerPoint presentation for staff awareness about childhood obesity. The presentation of the educational activity to the nursing staff was given after validation and administration of pre-tests in the staff education activity implementation upon administering the pre-tests to the nursing staff (Appendix C). Upon implementing the staff education program, posttests assessments were carried out. The pre-tests and post-tests findings were compared and contrasted to establish if the program objectives have been accomplished. The course instruction occurred during the in-service training, and the entire project execution period was four weeks.

Use of Contextual Insight of Team and Timeline

The timeline for completing the staff education program evaluation was two weeks. During this time, the expert panel validated the context and provide contextual, language, and literacy-based feedback about the material. The staff education validation teaching, presentation, and other activity occurred in four weeks.

Summary

Doctorate-prepared advanced practice nurses have a role in bridging the gap between the actual and recommended practice. This is possible by promoting the adoption of EBP in clinical practice. A literature search led to the identification of evidence supporting the development of a staff training program to enhance adherence to the recommended clinical practice guidelines for managing and preventing pediatric obesity. Although there are validated practice guidelines, there remains a substantial gap in the knowledge and skills of childhood obesity prevention and management strategies among nurses working at the partner organization. Knowles adult learning theory (Andragogy) was employed to promote the adoption of best practices in obesity prevention and management in the pediatric population. A team of five local experts validated the staff training program, and I served as the project leader and change champion advocating for the adoption of CPGTOOCA guidelines.

The project was anticipated to improve staff knowledge, skills, and confidence in assessing pediatric patients for overweight and obesity. The guidelines promoted timely interventions, thus protecting the patient population from the debilitating health effects of childhood obesity. The next chapter will review how the evidence used in this project was collected and analyzed, along with a review of the practice-focused questions, sources of evidence, and procedures followed in data analysis.

Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence

Introduction

Childhood obesity is a leading public health problem in the United States. It affects a substantial proportion of the country's pediatric population and has been associated with many short-term and long-term health issues (Larqué et al., 2019). Unhealthy weight in childhood results in serious complications such as Type 2 diabetes, liver disease, high blood pressure, high blood cholesterol, sleep disorders, bone and joint issues, eating disorders, and skin infections (Kansra et al., 2021). In the project setting, a third of pediatric patients seeking care at the facility are obese or overweight. However, the nurses at the partner site seldom assessed the patients' weight or educated them on healthy eating habits and lifestyles. The gap in practice was attributable to the lack of knowledge and confidence impacting their ability to initiate conversations regarding healthy weight with pediatric patient families. Therefore, the current project sought to address the problem by implementing CPGTOOCA guidelines for assessing, diagnosing, treating, and preventing childhood obesity and overweight. Section 3 presents a discussion of the procedures followed in the data collection and analysis of the evidence for this project. The section will address various subtopics, including practice-focused questions, sources of evidence, and analysis and synthesis procedures.

Practice-Focused Questions

 Using Lynn's model, will the assessment of the pre-developed staff education based on Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents meet the evaluation criteria? After attending the educational sessions regarding the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents protocol, will the nursing staff meet the learning outcome objectives?

The DNP project sought to develop a staff education program to teach nurses using CPGTOOCA guidelines to screen children and adolescents for obesity and overweight health issues. A validated lesson plan and objectives regarding the evidencebased guideline were used to educate the nursing participants on using the tool for screening. In addition, the nurses were expected to counsel patients and their families about healthy eating and lifestyle habits to assist in weight management. A panel of five local experts on childhood obesity screening and management validated the lesson plans using the Lynn model. The project's second phase involved the completion of a pretest and providing the staff with educational activities. The third phase of this project culminated with completing the posttest.

Operational Definitions

Body mass index (BMI): The value obtained from the mass (weight) when divided by the square of body height in meters of an individual and is expressed in kg/m². It approximates an individual's body fat and indicates whether one is obese, overweight, normal, or underweight (Khanna et al., 2022).

Childhood/pediatric obesity: An abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair the child's health. The criterion for defining obesity in the pediatric population is a BMI of more than the 95th percentile for age and gender (Smith et al., 2020).

Content validity: The degree to which a test or an assessment instrument assesses all aspects of the topic of interest or behavior it was developed to measure (Lynch et al., 2018).

Sources of Evidence

The key evidence for this project's development included a literature search, a review of professional organizational and academic websites, my professional experience, and anecdotal reports from the clinical preceptor and nursing educators at the partner organizations. I searched websites such as Walden University Library and corporate websites such as CDC and APA. I also conducted a literature search from databases such as CINAHL, Medline, Clinical Key for Nursing, Ovid, PubMed, EBSCO, ProQuest, Academic Search Complete, and the Cochrane Systematic Review to complete the search.

Evidence Generated for the Doctoral Project

Participants

The pediatric nurses at the partner organization were the participants in this doctoral project. There are 10 pediatric nurses at the partner organization, and they were selected based on their availability in the pediatric nursing care unit and their current job description. They had expressed interest in participating in this project and improving the standards of practice in the care settings. I conducted the staff education training based on CPGTOOCA guidelines. The five content experts validated the staff education program using the Lynn model. The subject matter experts were selected based on their educational qualifications and clinical practice experience in preventing and managing pediatric obesity. I offered leadership and served as the coordinator for this project.

Procedure

The first step in the DNP project is developing the staff education program to teach pediatric nurses about childhood obesity assessment and management. I presented the lesson plan to the expert panel, who were also given the learning material and educational program. They were provided with evaluation directions and protocol. The expert panel assessed the learning objectives to ensure the academic program's validity and reliability using the Lynn model. The Likert scale for reviewing is 1 = not relevant, 2 = unable to access relevance without revising the activity, 3 = relevant but needs modification, and 4 = very relevant. The content validity of the project items were determined based on the responses obtained from the content validators. Five content experts were involved, which aligns with Lynn's (1986) recommendation for a minimum of three experts and a maximum of ten. The average content validity indicator (CVI) was calculated for all items.

The staff education instruction on pediatric obesity assessment and management took part at the pediatric clinic. The learning objectives for the staff education program were as follows: (a) orient nurses on the administration of the clinical practice guidelines for the management of obesity among children and adolescents, (b) improve staff knowledge and confidence on the application of the standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity, and (c) bridge the gap created by the failure to implement standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity. Once the staff education program was validated, the next action was for the participants to complete the pre-test questionnaire, followed by delivering the course content. Knowles's adult learning theory was employed to guide the staff training program. Upon delivery of the staff education activity, the next step was collecting post-test data, which was analyzed and interpreted using descriptive analysis to evaluate the statistical significance. *Protections*

I made considerable efforts to ascertain that this project adheres to ethical principles guiding healthcare practice and research. The first step was seeking ethical approval from Walden University's IRB before commencing the project implementation activities. I also obtained a signed letter from the partner organization for this staff education program. Participation in this project was voluntary, and no one was coerced to participate. The participants were informed that they could withdraw their involvement anytime without facing the consequences. Confidentiality was maintained by ascertaining that no personally identifying details are included in the analysis. The participants received an envelope with a similar four-digit code for the pre-test and post-test data collection and analysis. The purpose of this was to facilitate matching the pre-test and post-test knowledge assessment scores for each participant while protecting the identity of the participants. The project materials and all hard copy documents were locked in a private office. The electronic materials will be stored on a password-protected device and destroyed after five years. The panel experts were not compensated financially for participating in the content review process.

Analysis and Synthesis

A panel of five experts in pediatric nursing education completed an analysis of staff education programs using the Lynn model. I prepared an evidence-based PowerPoint on the staff training program, which was based on Knowles's Adult Learning Theory. A CVI of at least 0.8 is sought, under which the staff education program would have to be reviewed and updated to meet the criteria. The overall validity of the program was calculated based on Lynn's model. Nurses at the pediatric clinic were invited to participate in the staff training program on pediatric obesity. Upon implementation of the training program, the staff were asked to take a post-test assessment to establish the education program's impact on staff knowledge and competence in evaluating and managing pediatric obesity. The tests were reviewed with the help of descriptive analysis to assess whether knowledge acquisition occurred or not. The tests were based on staff education's learning objectives.

Summary

This DNP project aimed to develop and implement a staff education activity to empower nurses to use the recommended practice guidelines in assessing, preventing, and managing childhood obesity. The content review process were based on the Lynn model, and five specialists on childhood obesity conducted the validation. Knowles's Adult Learning Theory guided the staff education program as the theoretical framework. Relevant ethical principles were taken into account, including ascertaining that confidentiality was maintained by putting measures to prevent unauthorized access to the data. The project used descriptive statistical analysis and summative assessments to evaluate the effectiveness of the staff training program on the set goals.

Section 4: Findings and Recommendations

Introduction

The partner organization lacked a standardized approach for evaluating the risk of overweight and obesity among children seeking care at the facility. As a result, the nurses at the facility were not confident in their knowledge and skills to adequately assess and educate children, adolescents, and their parents or guardians on obesity and overweight prevention and management. As a result, pediatric patients seeking care at the facility were not receiving a timely assessment for overweight and obesity status, leading to poor care outcomes.

Findings and Implications

A panel of five content experts reviewed the program and established that it had relevant content and an acceptable level of validity for the staff education activities. The five content experts included three family nurse practitioners, a physician, and the chief nurse. I reached out individually to each expert to discuss the program goals and review them to address the practice problem effectively. The project materials were then sent to the content experts for validity review and alignment with the purpose of the staff education program. The content experts reviewed the contents of the program over five days and independently rated the content of the program.

Evaluation of the Staff Education Activity

The staff education program was rated using a four-point Likert scale. The questions on the Likert scale tool focused on evaluating the appropriateness of the staff education program content regarding the staff education activity. The objectives of the

staff education program were as follows: (a) orient nurses on the administration of the clinical practice guidelines for the management of obesity among children and adolescents, (b) improve staff knowledge and confidence in the application of the standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity, and (c) bridge the gap created by the failure to implement standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity. Upon collecting all the evaluation forms, reviewing them for completeness, and analyzing the content, the analysis depicted a CVI of 0.873, which is an acceptable level of content validity per Lynn's model (Table 1). In addition, the high CVI index depicted that the content subject matters were confident in the staff education program.

Table 1

Objectives	CVI
Objective 1: To orient nurses on the administration of the clinical practice guidelines for the management of obesity among children and adolescents.	0.93/1.00
Objective 2: To improve staff knowledge and confidence in the application of the standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity.	0.81/1.00
Objective 3: To bridge the gap created by the failure to implement standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity.	0.879/1.00
Overall rating	0.873/1.00
Note. Evaluators were asked to consider the relevand	ce of each objective for the education

Evaluation of the Staff Education Program (N = 5)

program.

This project led to a validated education program that provided the nurses at the facility with the knowledge and skills they require to evaluate pediatric patients for overweight and obese weight status effectively.

Staff Education

Six participants took part in the program. I distributed the consent form for the anonymous questionnaire to the participating nurses. Before the commencement of the education sessions, the participants were given a brown envelope containing the pretest assessment questionnaires. The questionnaires did not ask for names or other potentially identifying participant data. Instead, each participant was assigned a four-digit unit code to match the pre- and post-project assessments. Upon participating in the staff training program, participants received instructions to drop the brown envelopes at the receptionist. The pretest and posttest staff education assessment questionnaire was composed of questions about the lesson goals, knowledge and confidence in applying the practice guidelines for screening, and the rate of agreement for improving pediatric population weight status examination.

The pretest depicted a mean between 2.9 and 3.3, with a mode of three, highlighting that the staff had inadequate knowledge and skills regarding obesity and overweight assessment among pediatric patients. The findings for Objective 1 gave a mean score of 3.3 and a mode of three. The results highlight that the staff was, to some extent, oriented to implementing the practice guidelines concerning obesity and overweight assessment and management among children and adolescents. The analysis for the second objective showed a mean of 2.9 and a mode of three. The results indicated that the staff had inadequate knowledge and confidence regarding evidence-based practices in assessing and managing childhood obesity and overweight status. The analysis for the third objective led to a mean score of 3.3 with a mode of four (Table 2). Thus, indicating that the staff was, to some extent, unaware of the gap in practice prior to completing the staff education activity.

Table 2

Analysis of Educational Activity

Objective evaluation	Pretest mean	Post- test	Pretest median	Post- test median	Pretest mode	Post- test	Pretest SD	Post- test SD
Objective 1: To orient nurses on the administration of the clinical practice guidelines for the management of obesity among children and adolescents.	3.3	1	3	1	3	1	0.7917	0
Objective 2: To improve staff knowledge and confidence on the application of the standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity	2.9	1	3	1	3	1	0.5773	0
Objective 3: To bridge the gap created by the failure to implement standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity	3.3	1.2	4	1	4	1	0.7894	0

Note. Participants were requested "Kindly rate the degree of orientation regarding

improving staff knowledge and skills on CPGTOOCA guidelines. Kindly mark the circle

that best describes your response."

The posttest data depicted that the intervention involving the provision of staff education met the learning objectives. The post-staff training program led to a mean of 1 to 1.2, with a mode of one for most items (Table 4). The analysis of the post-staff training program depicted that the staff felt knowledgeable and confident in following the practice guidelines for assessing obesity and overweight risk factors. The analysis also showed that awareness of the practice gap and the need to bridge it by implementing standardized and comprehensive guidelines on pediatric obesity improved substantially.

Recommendations

The evaluation of the staff education program by the content experts highlighted that the course content effectively addressed the gap in practice. The nurses at the partner organization agreed that the education program improved their knowledge and confidence in applying practice guidelines for pediatric obesity. They also became aware of the practice gap and ways to address it through implementing CPGTOOCA guidelines. Implementing the standardized practice guideline bridged the gap in practice at the partner organization. All newly hired pediatric nurses should complete the staff education activity during orientation or annual training programs.

Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team

Doctor of nursing practice (DNP) prepared nurses plays a critical role in the rapidly evolving healthcare system in the face of changing demographics and challenges such as the COVID-19 pandemic. DNP graduates have a broad array of knowledge and the skills required to translate research evidence into practice (Zaccagnini & Pechacek, 2019). The project was based on the best available evidence. A literature search was conducted, and the analysis of empirical evidence depicted training programs as an effective approach to improving nurses' practices regarding assessing and managing pediatric obesity.

The project team played a critical role in the development and implementation of the staff education program. As the team leader, I was responsible for developing and executing this project. The leadership at the partner organization included the chief nurse, family nurse practitioners, and the quality assurance nurse. The panel of five experts was involved in the review of the content for the educational activity. They also reviewed the lesson plan and the pre-post-education assessment activity tests. The nursing leadership at the partner site was critical in facilitating discussions and the execution of project activities.

Strengths and Limitations of the Project

The strength of this project is that it is evidence-based. Upon identification of the practice gap, a literature search identified an evidence-based approach to addressing the identified problem. The evidence used to support this project was recent and of high quality—another strength of the buy-in from essential stakeholders. The five content experts volunteered to participate in this project by applying their expertise to review the project materials. The facility staff also volunteered to participate in educational activities, which was critical in successfully implementing the project. There was adequate support from the management, which made the development and implementation of the project easier. In addition, the panel members validating the project materials were experts on childhood obesity.

A limitation of this project was the small number of nurses who took part in this project. The total number of staff at the facility that took part is six. Another limitation is that I developed the staff education program alone; thus, there is a possibility of bias in the process. However, I focused on evidence-based materials in developing the program, thus minimizing the possibility of bias. In addition, the program was reviewed by the five content experts and revised based on the recommended changes, minimizing the possibility of bias. The proposed follow-up should evaluate the program's impact on decreasing childhood obesity.

Summary

Childhood obesity is a leading public health problem in the US, affecting a substantial proportion of the country's pediatric population. It has been associated with many short-term and long-term health issues. The current project sought to address the problem by implementing CPGTOOCA guidelines for assessing, diagnosing, treating, and preventing childhood obesity and overweight. A panel of five content experts participated in reviewing the content of the staff education program. Section five will outline the dissemination plan and provide a critical analysis of self upon completing this project.

Section 5: Dissemination Plan

Disseminating the findings of scholarly research is a professional responsibility of a DNP-prepared nurse. Sharing the results and knowledge obtained from the DNP project is critical in promoting evidence-based practices. It allows DNP-prepared nurses to share the findings with their colleagues and other practitioners in similar settings, which is imperative in advancing the nursing profession (Zaccagnini & Pechacek, 2019)). I shared the findings of my project with stakeholders at the partner organization. I presented the findings of this staff education initiative to the nursing leadership and executive staff at the project site. As a result, the facility leadership agreed to incorporate the staff training program into the annual staff competency. Dissemination of the project findings will also take place beyond the partner organization. It will target nurses and practitioners in similar settings to combat childhood obesity. I intend to share the findings of this project at regional conferences for nurse practitioners. An example of such a conference is the Fundamentals of Obesity Treatment and Overcoming Obesity, which will take place in 2023 (Obesity Medicine Association, 2022). I will prepare a poster summarizing the project procedures and findings and discuss the implications of the project with other practitioners during the conference. Attending the regional conference meetings will provide an opportunity to network with other advanced nurse practitioners regarding this staff development activity. Nurses and other healthcare professionals are responsible for assessing pediatric populations for obesity and overweight status using appropriate practice guidelines and recommendations (Fruh et al., 2019; Whitehead et al., 2021).

I intend to submit a letter of inquiry to the *Journal of Pediatric Health Care* for potential publication. The journal is preferred due to its open-access policy allowing members of the public to view the published articles without having to purchase a subscription. The target audience for this journal includes family and primary care providers. In addition, the journal addresses pediatric healthcare issues, meaning that the findings will be shared with practitioners interested in the issue of childhood obesity.

Analysis of Self

DNP-prepared nurses play a critical role in advancing nursing practice by applying evidence-based practice to improve patient care outcomes (Beeber et al., 2019). The staff education activity was critical in enhancing staff knowledge and skills in assessing childhood obesity. The project allowed me to develop staff education activities at the partner site. The project allowed me to contribute to evidence-based practice through the implementation of CPGTOOCA guidelines for the assessment of childhood obesity. It offered an opportunity to be involved in the translation of research evidence to address the identified practice problem. The experience gained in developing and leading this project will inform my future endeavors in pursuing the implementation of evidencebased practice initiatives to improve care outcomes and patient experiences. DNPprepared nurses are responsible for enhancing practice by offering leadership toward quality improvement initiatives (Bekemeier et al., 2021).

The project was critical in my development as a DNP-prepared nurse scholar. I have amassed knowledge and skills that will improve my ability to deliver high-quality care. I integrated research evidence into practice and applied a learning theory to guide

the implementation of the staff education activity, which are critical features of a DNPprepared nurse (Zaccagnini & Pechacek, 2019). Another academic skill I developed is improving my ability to identify practice problems and apply critical thinking skills to address them. I identified the practice problem regarding poor practices in assessing the pediatric population for childhood obesity and carried out a literature search to identify evidence-based approaches to address the problem. The exercise allowed me to improve my critical thinking skills by critically reviewing the evidence to support the development of this project.

The project has impacted me with project management skills, and I feel adequately prepared as a project manager. I participated in various project manager roles, such as decision-making, communication, and team leadership (see Harris et al., 2020). I had to lead and make appropriate decisions for the project to be successful. I also applied effective communication skills to seek buy-in from the management to successfully implement this project. Additionally, I improved my time management skills considering that I had to ascertain that project deliverables had to be completed on time. I also improved my ability to collaborate and work with multidisciplinary team members. According to the American Association of Colleges of Nursing (2006), the current multitiered healthcare environment largely depends on the contributions of highly knowledgeable and competent individuals from various healthcare professions. I consulted with the five content experts and other senior leaders on executing the change. I will apply these skills in leading and managing future projects to facilitate applying the best evidence to address gaps in practice. While implementing this project, I encountered various challenges, such as sticking to my schedule and remaining committed to completing the staff training project. Another challenge I faced was that one of the reviewers did not review the project materials on time due to other commitments. I learned that it is imperative to consider such eventualities while developing the project plan. I also experienced challenges balancing project, personal, and professional responsibilities. In addition, the dynamic nature of the partner organization led to the rescheduling of some project activities. Nevertheless, the outstanding management made it possible for me to work with the team at the facility for the successful development and implementation of this project. Overall, this staff education project positively impacted me as a nurse practitioner, scholar, and project manager.

Summary

Childhood obesity is a severe public health challenge experienced at the state and federal levels. Nurses play a major role in preventing, assessing, and managing childhood obesity, considering that they provide the first point of contact with the healthcare system. Nevertheless, evidence indicates that nurses lack knowledge, confidence, and skills in conducting childhood obesity assessments. The project setting did not have a comprehensive and standardized protocol for childhood obesity assessment. The practice gap has been addressed through the implementation of the staff education activity concerned with implementing CPGTOOCA guidelines. The DNP project sought to establish if the staff education program using CPGTOOCA guidelines would be validated using Lynn's model.

Furthermore, to establish if the staff would meet the learning goals and outcomes upon attending the staff education program. The five content experts validated the staff education activity, which was done using Lynn's model. With the implementation of the practice guidelines, it is anticipated that the project will lead to decreased incidence of childhood obesity and associated complications. The partner site nurses will apply the guidelines to educate pediatric patients and their families about healthy eating and exercising to acquire a healthy weight and improve overall health. The findings of this project were shared with key stakeholders at the facility. As a result, the facility has impacted the change in the assessment protocol to support sustainability. The project allowed me to develop as a scholar, project leader, and staff educator.

References

- Agarwal, P. K. (2019). Retrieval practice & Bloom's taxonomy: Do students need facts and mental health problems in adolescents? *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 69, 428-439. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000282
- Alman, K. L., Lister, N. B., Garnett, S. P., Gow, M. L., Aldwell, K., & Jebeile, H.
 (2021). Dietetic management of obesity and severe obesity in children and adolescents: A scoping review of guidelines. *Obesity Reviews*, *22*(1), e13132. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13132
- American Academy of Pediatrics. (2022). AAP policy statements.

https://www.aap.org/en/patient-care/institute-for-healthy-childhood-weight/aappolicy-statements-on-obesity/

- American Association of Colleges of Nursing (2006). The essentials of doctoral education for advanced nursing practice. Washington, DC. https://www.aacnnursing.org/DNP/DNP-Essentials
- American Psychological Association. (2022). Clinical practice guideline for the treatment of obesity and overweight in children and adolescents. https://www.apa.org. https://www.apa.org/obesity-guideline
- Arteaga, S. S., Esposito, L., Osganian, S. K., Pratt, C. A., Reedy, J., & Young-Hyman, D. (2018). Childhood obesity research at the NIH: Efforts, gaps, and opportunities. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 8(6), 962–967.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/tbm/iby090

Beeber, A. S., Palmer, C., Waldrop, J., Lynn, M. R., & Jones, C. B. (2019). The role of doctor of nursing practice-prepared nurses in practice settings. *Nursing Outlook*, 67(4), 354-364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2019.02.006

Bekemeier, B., Kuehnert, P., Zahner, S. J., Johnson, K. H., Kaneshiro, J., & Swider, S.
M. (2021). A critical gap: Advanced practice nurses focused on the public's health. *Nursing Outlook*, 69(5), 865-874.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2021.03.023

- Boozaripour, M., Abbaszadeh, A., Shahriari, M., & Borhani, F. (2018). Ethical values in nurse education perceived by students and educators. *Nursing Ethics*, 25(2), 253–263. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733017707009
- Busch, A. M., Hubka, A., & Lynch, B. A. (2018). Primary care provider knowledge and practice patterns regarding childhood obesity. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 32(6), 557-563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedhc.2018.04.020

California Department of Social Services. (2022). *Laws and regulations*. https://www.cdss.ca.gov/inforesources/child-care-licensing/resources-forproviders/laws-and-regulations

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Prevalence of childhood obesity in the United States*. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/childhood.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and severe obesity among children and adolescents aged 2–19 years: United States, 1963–1965 through 2017–2018.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity-child-17-18/obesity-child.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022, April 5). *Childhood obesity facts*. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/childhood.html
- Colorado Education Initiative. (2018, July 27). *Breakfast after the Bell nutrition program fact sheet*. Colorado Hub. https://coloradohub.org/resources/breakfastafter-the-bell-nutrition-program-fact-sheet/
- Cuda, S. E., & Censani, M. (2019). Pediatric obesity algorithm: A practical approach to obesity diagnosis and management. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 6(3), 431-445. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2018.00431
- Davidson, K., Vidgen, H., Denney-Wilson, E., & Daniels, L. (2018). How is children's weight status assessed for early identification of overweight and obesity? –a narrative review of programs for weight status assessment. *Journal of Child Health Care*, 22(3), 486-500. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367493518759238
- Division of Elementary and Secondary Education. (2022). *Division of elementary and secondary education - Offices - Child nutrition unit - Programs*. https://dese.ade.arkansas.gov/Offices/child-nutrition-unit/programs
- El-Amin, D., A. (2020). Andragogy: A theory in practice in higher education. *Journal of Research in Higher Education*, 4(2), 54-69. http://dx.doi.org/10.24193/JRHE.2020.2.4
- Figlia-Peck, S., Feinstein, R., & Fisher, M. (2020). Treatment of children and adolescents who are overweight or obese. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, 50(9), 100871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2020.100871

- Fruh, S. M., Golden, A., Graves, R. J., Hall, H. R., Minchew, L. A., & Williams, S. (2019). Advanced practice nursing student knowledge in obesity management: A mixed methods research study. *Nurse Education Today*, 77(2), 59-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.03.006
- Harris, J. L., Roussel, L. A., Dearman, C., & Thomas, P. L. (2020). Project planning and management: A guide for nurses and interprofessional teams (3rd ed). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Hill, S. G., Phan, T. L. T., Datto, G. A., Hossain, J., Werk, L. N., & Abatemarco, D. (2019). Integrating childhood obesity resources into the patient-centered medical home: provider Perspectives in the United States. *Journal of Child Health Care, 23*(1), 63-78. http://repository.kemu.ac.ke/handle/123456789/1265
- Kansra, A. R., Lakkunarajah, S., & Jay, M. S. (2021). Childhood and adolescent obesity: A review. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 8(1), 581461. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2020.581461
- Kenney, E. L., Barrett, J. L., Bleich, S. N., Ward, Z. J., Cradock, A. L., & Gortmaker, S. L. (2020). Impact of the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act on obesity trends: Study examines the impact of the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 on childhood obesity trends. *Health Affairs*, 39(7), 1122-1129.

https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00133

Khanna, D., Peltzer, C., Kahar, P., & Parmar, M. S. (2022). Body Mass Index (BMI): A screening tool analysis. *Cureus*, 14(2), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.22119 Koivumäki, T., & Jallinoja, P. (2022). The good, the bad, and the blameless: A thematic analysis of the parental role in childhood obesity on an internet discussion board. *16*(8), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1187871/v

Larqué, E., Labayen, I., Flodmark, C. E., Lissau, I., Czernin, S., Moreno, L. A., &
Widhalm, K. (2019). From conception to infancy-early risk factors for childhood obesity. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *15*(8), 456-478.
https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0219-1

- Lynch, D. A., Sverzellati, N., Travis, W. D., Brown, K. K., Colby, T. V., Galvin, J. R., & Wells, A. U. (2018). Diagnostic criteria for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: A Fleischner Society White Paper. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 6(2), 138-153. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600 (17)30433-2
- Lynn, M. R. (1986). Determination and quantification of content validity. Nursing Research, 35(6), 382-386. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1988-06371-001</u>
- Michel, H. K., Kim, S. C., Siripong, N., & Noll, R. B. (2020). Gaps exist in the comprehensive care of children with inflammatory bowel diseases. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 224, 94-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.04.002
- National Association of Pediatric Nurse Practitioners. (2020). *A comprehensive overview of existing guidelines for childhood obesity*. NAPNAP.

https://www.napnap.org/new-review-provides-comprehensive-overview-of-

existing-clinical-practice-guidelines-for-childhood-overweight-and-obesity-2/

Obesity Medicine Association. (2022). Upcoming obesity events | Obesity education.

https://obesitymedicine.org/about/events/

Ogden, C., Carroll, M., Kit, B., & Flegal, K. (2018). Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. JAMA, 31(8), 806-814. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.732

Osmundsen, T. C., Dahl, U., & Kulseng, B. (2019). Enhancing knowledge and coordination in obesity treatment: A case study of an innovative educational program. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4119-9

- Purwati, D., Mardhiah, A., Nurhasanah, E., & Ramli, R. (2022). The six characteristics of andragogy and future research directions in EFL: A Literature review. *Elsya: Journal of English Language Studies*, 4(1), 86-95. https://doi.org/10.31849/elsya.v4i1.7473
- Quan-Haase, A., Williams, C., Kicevski, M., Elueze, I., & Wellman, B. (2018). Dividing the grey divide: Deconstructing myths about older adults' online activities, skills, and attitudes. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(9), 1207-1228. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218777572
- Richardson, A. S., Weden, M. M., Cabreros, I., & Datar, A. (2022). Association of the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 with body mass trajectories of children in low-income families. *JAMA Network Open*, 5(5), e2210480-e2210480. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.10480
- Sanyaolu, A., Okorie, C., Qi, X., Locke, J., & Rehman, S. (2019). Childhood and adolescent obesity in the United States: A public health concern. *Global Pediatric Health*, 6, 2333794X19891305. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333794X19891305

- Smith, J. D., Fu, E., & Kobayashi, M. A. (2020). Prevention and management of childhood obesity and its psychological and health comorbidities. *Annual Review* of Clinical Psychology, 16, 351-378. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-100219-060201
- Teaching and Learning Consulting Network. (n.d.). *Professional Learning: Adult Learning Theory in Action*. Teaching and Learning Consulting Network, LLC. https://www.teachingandlearningnetwork.com/adult-learners.html
- Torre, S. D., Courvoisier, D. S., Saldarriaga, A., Martin, X. E., & Farpour-Lambert, N. J. (2018). Knowledge, attitudes, representations and declared practices of nurses and physicians about obesity in a university hospital: Training is essential. *Clinical Obesity*, 8(2), 122-130. https://doi.org/10.1111/cob.12238
- Tsai, T. I., Luck, L., Jefferies, D., & Wilkes, L. (2017). Exploring nurses' knowledge and attitudes about children who are overweight/obese: A review of the literature. *Clinical Nursing Studies*, 5(1), 50-56. http://dx.doi.org/10.5430/cns.v5n1p50
- Valerio, G., Maffeis, C., Saggese, G., Ambruzzi, M. A., Balsamo, A., Bellone, S., Bergamini, M., Bernasconi, S., Bona, G., Calcaterra, V., Canali, T., Caroli, M., Chiarelli, F., Corciulo, N., Crinò, A., Di Bonito, P., Di Pietrantonio, V., Di Pietro, M., Di Sessa, A., Diamanti, A., Zito, E. (2018). Diagnosis, treatment and prevention of pediatric obesity: Consensus position statement of the Italian Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and diabetology and the Italian Society of Pediatrics. *Italian Journal of Pediatrics*, *44*(1), 88. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13052-018-0525-6

- Vargas, C. M., Stines, E. M., & Granado, H. S. (2017). Health □ equity issues related to childhood obesity: A scoping review. *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*, 77(1), S32-S42. https://doi.org/10.1111/jphd.12233
- Vittrup, B., & McClure, D. (2018). Barriers to childhood obesity prevention: Parental knowledge and attitudes. *Pediatric Nursing*, 44(2), 81-94.
- Weihrauch-Blüher, S., & Wiegand, S. (2018). Risk factors and implications of childhood obesity. *Current Obesity Reports*, 7(4), 254-259. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-018-0320-0
- Whitehead, L., Kabdebo, I., Dunham, M., Quinn, R., Hummelshoj, J., George, C., & Denney Wilson, E. (2021). The effectiveness of nurse led interventions to prevent childhood and adolescent overweight and obesity: A systematic review of randomized trials. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 77(12), 4612-4631. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14928
- Zaccagnini, M., & Pechacek, J. M. (2019). *The doctor of nursing practice essentials: A new model for advanced practice nursing*. Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Yeager, L. J., & Karp, S. M. (2019). Barriers to the implementation of pediatric overweight and obesity guidelines in a school-based health center. *Nursing Clinics*, 54(1), 159-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnur.2018.10.003
Appendix A: Lesson Plan for Staff Education

A Staff Education Project for the Administration of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the					
Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents					
Goal: To increase pediatric nurse's knowledge of Administration of Clinical Practice					
Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents					
Objectives	Methods/Strategies	Timeframe	Outcome		
			Measurement		
1. To orient nurses	Share the full	Two weeks of	Improved		
on the	explanation of the	instruction	knowledge		
administration of	identified gap in the				
the clinical practice	practice.				
guidelines for the					
management of					
obesity among	Summative				
children and	evaluation using pre-				
adolescents	and post-				
2. To improve staff	questionnaire.				
knowledge and	Instructional tools:				
confidence on the	PowerPoint slides				
application of the	with video and oral				
standardized and	presentation.				
comprehensive					

guidelines on	Evaluation method:	
childhood obesity,	Descriptive	
3. To bridge the gap	statistics.	
created by the		
failure to		
implement		
standardized and		
comprehensive		
guidelines on		
childhood obesity		

Appendix B: Lynn's Assessment for the Staff Education Project

Objective 1. To orient nurses on administering the clinical practice guidelines for managing obesity among children and adolescents.

- \circ 1 = not relevant
- \circ 2 = unable to assess relevance without item revision
- \circ 3 = relevant but needs minor alterations
- \circ 4 = very relevant and succinct

Objective 2. To improve staff knowledge and confidence on the application of the standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity

- \circ 1 = not relevant
- \circ 2 = unable to assess relevance without item revision
- \circ 3 = relevant but needs minor alterations
- \circ 4 = very relevant and succinct

Objective 3. To bridge the gap created by the failure to implement standardized and

comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity.

- \circ 1 = not relevant
- \circ 2 = unable to assess relevance without item revision
- \circ 3 = relevant but needs minor alterations
- \circ 4 = very relevant and succinct

Appendix C: Staff Education Activity Pre- and Post-Evaluation Questionnaire Lesson Objective 1: To orient nurses on the administration of the clinical practice guidelines for the management of obesity among children and adolescents. Please rate your degree of orientation regarding the elements of the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents. Please mark the circle that corresponds to your answer.

- \circ 1 = Oriented
- \circ 2 = Somewhat oriented
- \circ 3 = Somewhat not oriented
- \circ 4 = Not oriented

Lesson Objective 2. To improve staff knowledge and confidence on the application of the standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity. Please rate your level of knowledge and confidence regarding the application of the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents. Please mark the circle that corresponds to your answer.

- \circ 1 = High level of knowledge
- \circ 2 = Medium level of knowledge
- \circ 3 = Low level of knowledge
- \circ 4 = No level of knowledge

Lesson Objective 3. To bridge the gap created by the failure to implement standardized and comprehensive guidelines on childhood obesity. Please rate your degree of knowledge with the gap in current practice about the application of the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Obesity and Overweight Children and Adolescents.

- \circ 1 = Knowledgeable
- \circ 2 = Somewhat knowledgeable
- \circ 3 = Somewhat non-knowledgeable
- \circ 4 = No knowledge